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The Old Catholic Church

Churches have declared themselves to be Old Catholic in various times and places.
The first group of Churches to proclaim themselves OIld Catholic appeared in the
Netherlands in the 18th Century when the Dutch Catholics extended sympathy and
hospitality to French Catholics who were denied religious liberty in France.

Their defense of religious liberty brought them condemnation from Rome, and since
1725, the Archbishopric of Utrecht has remained independent of Rome.

Old Catholics have always held that under Christ, one finds perfect freedom. Rather
than disavow their historic principles, they have maintained separate existence from
Rome since the 18th Century.

Other Churches joined them in 1870 when the first Vatican Council proclaimed the
doctrine of Papal Infallibility. Since only Christ is infallible, many Churches in
Austria, Germany, Bavaria, and Switzerland, realizing their position was closer to
Utrecht than to Rome, proclaimed themselves Old Catholic.

The Old Catholic Church of British Columbia

The Old Catholic Church of British Columbia, with its Church of Saint Raphael’s,
established in 1921, is an independent communion which derives its Apostolic
Succession from the Old Catholic Church in Holland, thus assuring the Catholic
validity of its rites, sacraments and clerical orders.

We have the seven sacraments. We do not receive any grants or funds from
municipal, provincial or federal governments. We are duly registered with the federal
government (Ottawa) and in the provinces of BC and Quebec.

Since our existence we have provided room and board for hundreds of people in
need, helped them to find work, and put them back on their feet to be self sufficient
emotionally and financially. Our clergy are not paid. We hold secular jobs for a
livelihood. Celibacy is optional.

The majority of our people attending the church are very different ethnically, socially,
and religiously. All are welcome. Members of the Old Catholic Church are joyful
Christians happily sharing their glorious Faith with others; a love for Christ, and a
warm commitment and devotion to Jesus Christ is the criterion for membership in
the Old Catholic Church.

+Rt. Rev. Gérard LaPlante, Bishop
The Old Catholic Church of B.C. and Society
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Foreword

The Blessed Community

“Facts about St. Raphael’s Old Catholic Church
of B.C.” begins with a simple statement. “In July
1921, the first L.C.C. (Liberal Catholic Church)
services were held in Vancouver. Bishop Irving
Cooper officiated, after his return from
Australia. Eucharistic Services were held in the
“Blue Room” of the Hotel Vancouver. Baptisms
administered.” Some 80 years later that
identical sacramental ministry continues.

Bishop Irving S. Cooper had only been recently
consecrated to the episcopate by Archbishops

James |. Wedgwood and Charles W.
Leadbeater. On one of the first of his
missionary journeys he stops over in

Vancouver to meet with friends and interested
persons, at the Hotel Vancouver, today’s
Fairmont Hotel. One can only but wonder, what
the Bishop chose for his message at that first
Eucharist of reformed Catholicism, in this west
coast city. From the blessings that followed
upon the planting of that missionary seed we
realize it could only have been scripturally
oriented, Christ-centered, non-judgmental and
inclusive. It must have been a message, like
that of Jesus with his committed companions,
who had climbed up, away from the crowds
onto a hillside, in the Holy Land.

There those climbing companions heard for the
first time, some 2000 years ago, the words of
the Beatitudes, the way of life for the blessed
community.

In July of 1921 another one of those blessed
communities would be born, as together they
heard this visiting Bishop proclaim in the
exhortation to the general confession of the
Liturgy, “O Lord, Thou hast created man to be
immortal and made him to be an image of
Thine own eternity.”

One can only marvel at the tenacity of that
community of blessing of Bishops, priests and
people as they set out to serve the needs and
to fill in the gaps, for the people of British
Columbia. For the next 40 years, like the
people of Israel of old, they wandered about,

with no permanent place for worship; from this
and that hotel, or hall, or home. Yet like those
Israelites of old, they too had their Tabernacle
and Ark of the Covenant. For their very first
priest, the Rev. Fr. J. P. Kirk built a wooden
Altar and carried with him from place to place
an altar stone, chalice, ciborium and priestly
vestments. For priest and people we can only
imagine how arduous was their spiritual
adventure. Neither can one be oblivious to the
reality, that all of the clergy of the Church, from
the beginning, have followed in the footsteps of
St. Paul the Tentmaker, being worker-priests,
supporting themselves financially by secular
employment.

Some 12 years after Bishop Cooper had
planted the holy seed, this community of
blessing found themselves with a new priest.
The Rev. Fr. H.J. Barney was a former member
of the Order of Mary Immaculate, commonly
known as the Oblate Order. Father Barney
generously offered his great gifts of holiness of
life and a wonderful healing ministry to this
fledging community. He would faithfully serve
his priestly ministry for the following 30 years,
making what had become known as St.
Raphael’'s, a healing and helping presence in
Vancouver. The Holy Angels were always to
play an important role in these ministries
emanating out from the Eucharist, in which the
worshiping community joins with the nine
heavenly orders of the Angels in lauding and
praising their glorious God. For it was during Fr.
Barney’s ministry that this community of
blessing finally found their promised land, and
a permanent home, on the east side of the city
of Vancouver, just off Fraser Street.

In the seventies, the congregation of St.
Raphael’'s welcomed into their fellowship a
young French-Canadian layman. Gérard
LaPlante would be ordained a priest for this
community of blessing in 1975. | met him for
the very first time in 1977. Our family had
recently returned from ministry in New Zealand

—|I|—
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and | was awaiting a new appointment. Fr.
LaPlante asked if | might be available for
assistance at times. But it was not to be, as | was
to be shortly sent to prison, three of them in fact,
as a correctional chaplain. Nevertheless, we
would continue to keep in contact.

In 1979 the Rev. Fr. Gérard LaPlante was
elected and consecrated a Bishop for the
Church. Shortly afterwards he would become
one of the 250 spiritual pastors, of various
religious traditions and faiths, who assisted me in
my prison ministry. | shall always be grateful for
the Christian concern and common sense which
he shared with those, whose primary language
was French. It would be that Christian concern
and common sense that enabled and
empowered St. Raphael's to flourish and
increase its influence not only locally, but far
beyond the boundaries of the eastside of
Vancouver. For instance, hospitality has always
played an important part in the ministry of the
clergy of St. Raphael's. More than 300
individuals, facing difficult circumstances in their
lives, have known that Christian hospitality, while
making the clergy house attached to the church
their home.

During the early years of Bishop LaPlante’s
episcopate, the congregation of St. Raphael’s
voted to become an Autocephalous Church.
From then the church began developing closer
relationships with the Old Catholic Church of
Germany. One of St. Raphael's members and
chancellor of the church returned to his
homeland in Germany to live, and he became a
member of St. Jacobus Old Catholic Church in
Koblenz, Germany, like some other families from
St. Raphael’s. So it was not surprising that at the
beginning of the new millennium an invitation
was received by the Vicar General of the Old
Catholic Church of Germany, the Rev. Fr. Hans-
Werner Schlenzig, for closer ties between the
two churches.

Today over a thousand individuals count
themselves blessed to be a part of the gathered
community that is St. Raphael’s. At the Sunday
Eucharist, people from over 35 countries, of the
international family, pray the “Our Father’
separately in eight to ten different languages. St.

Raphael’s, in the spirit of Bishop Cooper of old,
has established ministries overseas in

Belgium. On this continent, for a time in Alaska
and more recently in the state of Washington
congregations have sprung up. At the beginning
of this 21st century it has planted ministries in
some 15 worship centres, in churches, oratories,
missions, prison chapels, senior's homes, funeral
homes, house churches and hermit hut,
wherever the Lord Jesus calls and always in the
spirit of the Beatitudes.

As one reads “Facts about St. Raphael’s Old
Catholic Church of BC”, it is like stepping back
over time and climbing with Jesus up a hillside in
the Holy Land and quietly listening as He shares
the Beatitudes with us. The notable Biblical
scholar, the Rev. Dr. William Barclay says of
them, “The Beatitudes are not simply statements,
they are exclamations!” This is the same sense
that one feels as we read this history of a
community of blessing. One is not just dealing
with statements of History, no matter how
humanly insignificant they may appear. Rather
one senses a declaration of exclamation and
enthusiasm!

The Beatitudes tell it the way it could be in each
and every person’s life. They also tell us what
real life is all about, warts and all. In St.
Raphael's Church, for the past 25 years, above
the Holy Tabernacle on the Altar, there has been
a wonderful copy of Johann Hofmann’s “Christ in
Gethsemane.” Whenever one kneels before that
Altar, as a participant in this community of
blessing one desires like St. Richard, Bishop of
Chichester (1197 — 1253) to pray.

“0 most merciful Redeemer,
Friend and Brother,
May | know you more clearly,
Love you more dearly,
And follow you more nearly.
Amen”
Little wonder, as the Beatitudes say, “all heaven
applauds,” the community of blessing!

The Rt. Rev. Dr. L. M. McFerran,
B.A.,L.Th., M.A., Ph.D., R.S.W.
Bishop, the Old Catholic Church of BC
1927 - 2007
RIP
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The Rt. Rev. J. Gérard A. LaPlante
Bishop of the Old Catholic Church of BC
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Baptism at St. Raphael’s Old Catholic Church The Monstrance during

the Adoration of the Blessed Sacrament



The Old Catholic Church of BC
Chapter 1

EARLY YEARS

1921

July the first Liberal Catholic Church (LCC)
services were held in Vancouver. Bishop Irving
Cooper officiated, after his return from
Australia, Eucharistic Services were held in the
“Blue Room” of the Hotel Vancouver. Baptisms
administered.

1924

Easter Monday A Service of the Holy Eucharist
was held on this date, in the Woman’s Building.
Rev. 0. Barry of Nanaimo was the celebrant; he
also lectured in the evening of this day.

1925

August Holy Eucharist was held in the
Woman’s Building by Rev. Fr. Wardall of
Seattle, U.S.A. Services of Prime were held
each Sunday during the month of August,
followed by a class of “The Science of the
Sacraments”. Conducted by Mr. J. C. Kirk,
assisted by Mr. Potter.

20th September Mr. Kirk ordained to the
priesthood by Rt. Rev. Irving S. Cooper in Los
Angeles. On his return, Services held regularly,
average attendance was 12. (October)

November 20th Officers elected: Mrs. C.
Davenport, Secretary, Mr. C. Potter, Librarian,
Mr. John Layloe Acolyte. Mrs. Wolfe President
of Church Guild. Miss Watson Pre - Altar Guild,
Mrs. Louis, Miss Louise Jones organist and
violinist.

Altar Stone & Jewels, and priests vestments
donated by Rev. Fr. Kirk. Altar Cross donated
by Miss Mary Watson. Chalice & Ciborium
donated by Rev. Fr. Kirk. “The spirit of
optimism, and brotherhood, shown by all
present, augurs well for the success of the
L.C.C. in Vancouver. It was also arranged that
a weekly meeting be held, Wednesday at 8:00
p.m. in the Woman’s Building, for study and
general discussion”. (Records)

November 22nd The first Holy Mass of the
new priest, Fr. Kirk took place at 742 Thurlow
St. Vancouver, B.C., fifteen people present.
John Taylor acolyte, Mrs. Manzanoja, Mrs.
Lacey, Miss Thoda Lacey, Miss C. Lacey, Miss
Rocliffe, Miss Barbara McLeod, Miss Kirk, Mr.
Branson, Mr. & Mrs. Davenport, etc.

December 2nd At the Wednesday meeting
held in the Church room it was decided to
purchase an organ for use in the Church. Mrs.
Jones, organist was deputed to do this. Altar
made by Rev. J. C. Kirk.

December 24th Midnight Mass was held on
Christmas Eve. Eighteen people were present

December 27th The First Baptism by Fr. Kirk.
Mrs. Wolfe the President of the Ladies Guild
being baptized.

1926

No records

1927

Services were continued
Woman'’s Building

1928

January 27th Rt. Rev. Bishop Irving Cooper
arrived in Vancouver, on the evening. On
Saturday, 28th at 9:00 am the Bishop ordained
W. Hughes of Nanaimo to the priesthood. John
Taylor was ordained cleric, doorkeeper reader,
exorcist and acolyte. In the afternoon the
Bishop received at the Hotel Georgia anyone
who wished to speak to him. Saturday 6:30
p.m. Confirmation and address by the Bishop.
Five candidates were presented for
Confirmation.

January 29th 10:30 Holy Mass - Bishop
Cooper celebrant. At 3:00 p.m. in the Hotel
Georgia, Bishop Cooper lectured on “Some
needed changes in Christianity”. The York room
was crowded, and the people very interested in
the lecture. The place of Worship was changed

regularly in the
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in January 1928 to 2380 Pine St., Vancouver,
B.C. Services were held regularly on Sundays
and the first Wednesday of each month until
January 1930.

1929
$103.63 for the organ... reported that
membership now numbers 44... Mr. Kirk

reported that Insurance was carried for $500.00
three years.

1930

January 25th Rev. Fr. J.C. Kirk celebrant. The
church closed for lack of a priest. Fr. Kirk
removing to California, and there being no one
to replace him.

Father Henry J. Barney ca. 1920

1933

May 1st Church re-opened . Bishop Hampton
officiated. Rev. Fr. H.J. Barney was received in
the L.C.C. Having been formerly ordained in the
Roman Catholic Church, at Edmonton. Alta. for
the Oblate Order (0. M. I.) by Archbishop Legal
June 11, 1915. Services were held regularly
thereafter on Sundays at room 219 Empire
Building, Vancouver, B.C. (609 W. Hastings St.)
and Healing Service once - July 2nd in the
evening.

September The place of Worship changed to
883 Howe St., where Services were held
regularly on Sundays and Wednesdays, until
August 30th, 1936. Daily Eucharist was
celebrated regularly for the three years by Rev.
Fr. Barney.

The first Church at 882 Howe Street, Vancouver
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1934

Dorothy I. Hogg, born July 1,1934 at Victoria,
B.C. was baptized on February 21,1935 in
L.C.C. at 883 Howe St, Vancouver. Mother -
Mrs. Celinda |. Hogg present - by Rev. Fr.
Barney.

1935

September 8th Confirmation: By Rt. Rev.
Charles Hampton in the L.C.C. Church 883 on
Howe St. Fred Houlder, Mrs. Houlder, Mrs.
James Bremmer. Miss Isabel Bremmer. Mrs.
Doris H. Birsh, Mr. Trevor Birch. Miss Yanna de
Groot, Mrs. E.A. Conrad, Miss Eilen Howe. Mr.
William Swan, Miss Alice Potter, Mrs. James
Cuddeford, Mr. Frank Janzen. Catherine Anne
McCarthy, daughter of Mr. Francis H. McCarthy
and Janet, bom September 23, 1933, baptized
by Fr. Barney.

1936

September 6th First service was held at the
new quarters, 346 W. Broadway, Vancouver.
B.C. The Rt. Rev. F.W. Pigott, M.A.. officiated
and - in the presence of Rev. Fr. Barney, Mr.
R. R. Erwing, deacon Fr. Earl Bremmer, server
and 50 worshippers -conferred the order of
acolyte, four minor orders, and the
subdiaconate on Mr. Charles Potter. Next
morning, September 7th, Mr. Potter received
the deaconate at the hands of Bishop Pigott. In
the evening. Bishop Pigott officiated at the
Service of Benediction. Whereafter, Holy Mass
celebrated on Sunday mornings, Benedictions
on Sunday evenings, with addresses at both
regularly performed. Daily Eucharist, study
classes Wednesday evenings, and Healing
Services on the 1st Sunday of the month, in the
evening.

1937

Mr. Frank Janzen, confirmed by Bishop Wardall
June 27,1937. Baptism of Janice May Livington
bom May 20.1936 - Father Mr. N. Livington,
Mother Mrs. Margery Davey.

June 27th Deacon Fr. Charles John Potter
ordained to the Priesthood by Bishop M.
Wardall. Minor Orders were conferred on Mr.
Earle James Bremmer, by Bishop M. Wardall.

1939

Regular Services began at 1236 Granville St..
Vancouver. B.C.

1948

August 1st The last Service at 346 W.
Broadway. after nearly 12 years of continuous
activity. Reason: the owner needs the space
(by Rev. Fr. Barney) Christmas Midnight
Service celebrated in the Empire Building. Rev.
Fr. Barney, celebrant. Easter Morning -
Service celebrated in home of Fr, Erwin.

1950

July 1st Church situated at 4722 Main St.,
Vancouver, B.C.

1951

August 15th The first priest of the L.C.C. in
Vancouver, the Rev. Fr. Kirk. died in California.
October 7 Mr. Earle J. Bremner ordained to the
priesthood by Bishop E.W. Jackson. Rev.
Thomas Chippendale ordained to the
priesthood by Bishop E.W. Jackson. Mr. Leslie
Fanner to Minor Orders by Bishop E.W.
Jackson.

1952

April 23rd Incorporated as a society in the
province of British Columbia; Certificate # 4080.
The society is administered by a board of
directors, and as such are the legal owners and
administrators of the Church’s property and
welfare.

_______________________1I!I—-—-—-—-—-—-—-—-—-—-—-—
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Fr. Barney at the Altar
at the Broadway loca-

left to right: Fr. Pate; Fr. Love, Fr. ﬁ
Barney, Bishop Jackson, Fr. Erwin, |

and Deacon Fr. Bremner |

back row left to right: Fr. Erwin,
Fr. Pate, Fr. Barney, front row:
Fr. Hallock, Fr. Bremner, Bishop
Jackson, Fr. Poetter, Fr. Farmer
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1956

September 15th Rev. Fr. John Carey ordained
to the priesthood, (conditional) by Bishop E.W.
Jackson,

September 16th Bishop E. W. Jackson
ordained Mr. Leslie Fanner and Mr. Alonzo
Hallock to deaconate, on September 23 Bishop
E. W. Jackson ordained the Fr. Leslie and Fr.
Alonzo to the Priesthood.

From 1920 to 1961, 94 people were baptized in
the L.C.C. according to the Registry of the
Church. Most baptisms were performed by Rev.
Fr. Barney.

From 1925 - 1951, a total of 51 people were

confirmed in the L.C.C. according to the
Registry of the church. Bishops Cooper,
Wardall, Hampton, Aqina, and Jackson

administering the Sacrament.

From 1934 -1968 64 funerals, (most of them
cremation) by Fr. Barney. From 1933 to 1965
55 weddings, most of them done by Fr. Barney.

1962

August Last service at 3515 - 4™ Avenue,
Vancouver, B.C August 19th, First Service at
present location, 715 E. 51st Ave. The Church
was purchased from the “Baptist Church” - and
had living quarters for Fr. Barney in the back.
Regular services have been held here since
then.

1964

Rev. Fr. Barney died in 1964, and was buried in
the Oblates Father's Cemetery in Mission, BC.

1969

May 4th Mr. EW. Durand was ordained to
Minor Orders by Bishop John Coats. (May 4th)

1971

The Rt. Rev. S. Von Krusenstema confirmed
John Claude Thomas (Se Hau Tri) who was
baptized in Saigon on July 5, 1964 at Blessed

Martyrs R.C. Church by the Rev. N.C. Hien.

1974

September 22nd Confirmation by the Rt. Rev.
E.W. Jackson of Mr. David Oldridge. Mr. Bill
Smith, Mr. Kevin McKeown. Mr. David Hartman
was ordained by Bishop Jackson to sub-
deaconate

1975

August 31st Started renovation of the Church.

October 31st Ordination to the Priesthood of
the Rev. Fr. J. Gérard A. LaPlante by the Rt.
Rev. Ernest W. Jackson, Regionary Bishop of
the LCC in Toronto, Ontario in the Oratory of
the Bishop.

1976

August 12th First Baptism: Joseph Lee
Dunkerton son of Mr. Andrew Dunkerton and
Mrs. Suzanne Pemberton by Fr. Gérard
LaPlante.

January 25th Twenty-five new members
accepted by Fr. Gérard LaPlante. Bishop E.W.
Jackson conferred the Sacrament of
Confirmation - 2 girls, Cathy Jaouen, and L.
Barlow.

August 15th Celebration by the Parish of Fr.
Carey’s 35th anniversary of ordination to the
priesthood.

1977

August 28th The Rt. Rev. Sten Von
Krusentiema, P. Bishop for the L.C.C.
International celebrated Holy Mass, and
conferred the deaconate to Rev. Kevin
McKeown.

-------------IIII-----_______________



THE OLD CATHOLIC CHURCH OF BC

Below: May 1974: visit of Bishop Jackson
at St. Raphael’s; left to right: (clergy only):
Fr. LaPlante, Rev. Georgette Williamson,
Rev. Fr. Patrick Carey, Bishop Ernest
Jackson, Rev. Leigh Danvers

Above: Fr. LaPlante with Bishop Jackson
and clergy.

RAPHAEL'S
CATHOLIC CHURCH {

RIST SUNDAY 1AM

ARE-APELCOME

Above: Bishop Jackson preaching inside
St. Raphael’s 1974

Above: Bishop Jackson visiting with Parishioners 1974

—_—



THE OLD CATHOLIC CHURCH OF BC

Left to right: Fr. LaPlante, Mr. Robert Pogue, Mr. Fred Foster, Removing the rot at the Church 1978.
Mr. Walter Milner, Mr. Alvin Norman.
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Visit of Bishop Kruisenstema 1977
with parishioners of St. Raphael’s.

Installing gutters and repairing the roof 1979 standing:
left to right: Bishop LaPlante, Mr. Romain Comeau, Mr.
Alain Vaugier, Mr. Arthur Frenette. On the ladders: left to
right: Mr. Clayton Gagnon, Mr. Robert Gagnon, Mr. Denis
Hebert.
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The renovating crew inside and outside = e I
the Church September 1975 : -
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right: Visit of Bishop Jackson E&
left to right: server, Fr. Carey, Bishop &%
Jackson, Fr. LaPlante, Fr. Leigh Danvers
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The Fire department of Vancouver
helps to install a Church tower on the
Church 1975




